IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S228230

v.

VERONICA LORRAINE DEHOYOS Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth District Court of Appeal, Case No. D065961
San Diego Superior Court, Case No. SCD 252670
The Honorable Peter C. Deddeh, Gale E.Kaneshiro, and FILED
Lisa C. Schall, Judges

_JAN 26 2016

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITANK A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

APPELLATE DEFENDERS, INC.

Leslie A. Rose Staff Attorney State Bar No. 106385

555 West Beech Street Suite 300

San Diego, CA 92101

Bus: 619-696-0282

Fax: 619-696-7789

Email: lar@adi-sandiego.com

Attorneys for Appellant Veronica Lorraine Dehoyos

QUESTION PRESENTED

Does Proposition 47 - the "Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act" ("Proposition 47" or "the Act") - which made specified crimes misdemeanors rather than felonies, apply retroactively to a defendant who was sentenced before the Act's effective date but whose judgment was not final until after that date?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 9, 2013, San Diego police officers Andres Ruiz and Tyler Cockrell were on patrol. (2RT 93, 95, 113, 161, 163.) Around 3:55 p.m. they drove by 3005 Osceola hoping to find Eric Anderson outside. (2RT 95, 130, 141, 145.) Co-appellant Gary DeGraff was outside the house and appeared to be cleaning the trunk of a vehicle. (2RT 95, 113-114.) DeGraff gave Ruiz permission to search him. (2RT 116.) Ruiz found a piece of paper folded up in DeGraff's right rear pocket, containing a large shard of crystalline material. (2RT 95-97, 117.) Based on his training and experience, Ruiz believed it was a useable quantity of methamphetamine. (2RT 101-102.)

As Officer Ruiz was arresting DeGraff, DeGraff yelled to his girlfriend, appellant-DeHoyos. Appellant came outside and Officer Cockrell contacted her. He asked her whether she had anything illegal on her and whether he could search her. She replied, "Yeah. I don't have anything on me." He searched her and found a baggie in her right front pocket. (2RT 164-166, 207.) Ruiz then arrested appellant. The substance in the baggie weighed .50 grams and tested positive for methamphetamine. (2RT 208, 213.)

On April 24, 2014, a jury convicted appellant of one felony count of possession of a controlled substance – methamphetamine (Health and Saf. Code, § 11377, subd. (a) ("§ 11377(a)" hereinafter). (1 CT 211; 4RT 441.)

On May 8, 2014, the court suspended imposition of sentence and placed appellant on formal probation for a period of three years. (1 CT 214-216; 3 RT 451-453.) Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. (1 CT 194.)

On November 4, 2014, the voters enacted Proposition 47 which became effective the following day. Among the provisions in Proposition 47, various felony or wobbler offenses are reduced to misdemeanors, provided the defendant does not have any disqualifying prior convictions, so-called "super strikes," which are listed in Penal Code section 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv). Appellant's conviction of possession of a controlled substance in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11377(a) is one of the offenses reduced to a misdemeanor by Proposition 47. There was no evidence in the record indicating appellant has ever been convicted of any disqualifying offenses. (1CT 6.)

13

The content of the party and the party of th

Appellant's appointed appellate counsel filed an opening brief contending Proposition 47 applied retroactively to her because her case was not final when Proposition 47 became effective, citing the retroactivity rule in the case of *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740 (*Estrada*)). Consequently, appellant urged she was entitled to resentencing under amended Health and

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

Safety Code section 11377 and was not required to utilize the resentencing procedure established in section 1170.18. (*People v. DeHoyos* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 363, 367, review granted September 30, 2915, S228230 (*DeHoyos*).

In an opinion certified for partial publication, filed on June 30, 2015, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment of the superior court without issuing a remand order for the requested resentencing, holding "the language of Proposition 47 states the Legislature's intent for prospective, not retroactive, application with the requisite clarity." (*Ibid.*) Appellant filed a Petition for Rehearing reiterating the *Estrada* argument, also emphasizing *Estrada's* companion case of *In re Kirk* (1963) 63 Cal.2d 761 (*Kirk*). In *Kirk*, the ameliorative statute was passed after the criminal act was committed when the defendant's case was pending on appeal – just as in appellant's case. (*Id.* at pp. 762-763.) The Court of Appeal denied the Petition for Rehearing on July 22, 2015.

On August 3, 2015, appellant petitioned this Court for review on the Court of Appeal's decision that she was not entitled, under the *Estrada/Kirk*

²Although the opinion spoke in terms of the "Legislature's intent," presumably the Court of Appeal meant the electorate.

rule, to retroactive application of amended Health and Safety Code section 11377.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue before this Court is whether Proposition 47 applies retroactively to those defendants whose cases were on appeal on the date of the Act's effective date (*Kirk*-defendants) or whether the phrase "currently serving a sentence" and the recall process set forth in section 1170.18 can be discerned with sufficient clarity as the functional equivalent of a savings clause.³ Appellant argues the Act contains no indication the electorate intended its provisions to be applied prospectively only. Appellant further argues the recall procedure in section 1170.18 for those defendants "currently serving a sentence" refers to only those defendants whose judgments are final, does not constitute an implied savings clause, and is not intended as the exclusive remedy for *Kirk*-defendants.

³This Court is currently reviewing the analogous issue: Does the Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012 (§§ 667, subd. (e)(2)(C), 1170.12, subd, (c)(2)(C), which reduces punishment for certain non-violent third-strike offenders, apply retroactively to a defendant who was sentenced before the Act's effective date but whose judgment was not final after that date? (*People v. Conley*, review granted Aug. 14, 2013 [S211275].) Unlike the briefing in *Conley*, appellant emphasizes the importance of *Kirk* to her issue.

Proposition 47 is unique to the history of California jurisprudence by granting an unprecedented amount of relief. There is no other enactment which not only ameliorates sentences, as well as providing a mechanism for petitioning for the reduction of a sentence,⁴ but also mitigates judgments by "de-felonizing" them *long* after they have become final. Specifically, section 1170.18 adds a recall procedure for defendants "currently serving a sentence" for a covered conviction, and a slightly different application procedure exists for defendants who have completed their sentence for a covered conviction. (§ 1170.18, subds. (a) & (f).) By adding section 1170.18, Proposition 47 stands to benefit thousands of defendants whose judgments were final well before the Act's passage, thus expanding its retroactive effect beyond what even *Estrada* would have allowed.

Under the *Estrada/Kirk* rule, "a legislative amendment that lessens criminal punishment is presumed to apply to all cases *not yet final* (the Legislature deeming its former penalty too severe), unless there is a 'savings clause' providing for prospective application." (*People v. Smith* (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 1460, 1464-1465; see also, *People v. Hajek and Vo* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 1144, 1195-1196.) The rule in *Estrada* has been broadly interpreted; it applies even in those instances where there is no express declaration of

⁴See also, Proposition 36, § 1170.126.

retroactivity. (*People v. Brown* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 314, 324.) Moreover, the rule applies to voter-enacted as well as legislative amendments. (*People v. Wright* (2006) 40 Cal.4th 81, 94-95.) In *Kirk*, a companion case to *Estrada*, this Court applied the *Estrada* holding to those defendants whose cases were on appeal and were not yet final, finding those defendants (*Kirk*-defendants) as being in precisely the same posture as those defendants (*Estrada*-defendants) who had not yet had judgment imposed at the time of the ameliorative amendment.

It is presumed voters know the law. (*People v. Shabazz* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 55, 65, fn. 8; *Anderson v. Superior Court* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 1152, 1161.) Thus in enacting Proposition 47, the voters were deemed aware of the *Estrada/Kirk* rule. In the absence of clear language indicating a contrary intent, defendants whose judgments were not final on the operative date of the Act (both *Estrada* and *Kirk* defendants) would gain the benefit of amelioration of lessened punishment.

Respondent has argued against appellant's position, and the appellate court adopted its argument. The Court of Appeal first found no express savings clause in the Act, but then went on to consider whether there were any other indicia of a legislative intent for Proposition 47 to apply prospectively, rather than retroactively. (*DeHoyos, supra*, at p. 367)

"" '[W]hat is required is that the Legislature demonstrate its intention with sufficient clarity that a reviewing court can discern and effectuate it.' "[Citation.]"

(DeHoyos, supra, at p. 367, quoting People v. Nasalga (Nasalga) (1996) 12 Cal.4th 784, 793.)

Relying only on the "no automatic release" for those "currently serving a sentence" language, *DeHoyos* found a legislative intent for the Act to apply prospectively. The Court of Appeal also seemingly construed, without so stating, the recall petition process found in section 1170.18, subdivision (a) to be the functional equivalent of a savings clause and the exclusive remedy for *Kirk*-defendants. (*DeHoyos, supra*, at pp. 367-368.) *Kirk* was never addressed in the opinion, nor was the expansive language of section 1170.18, subdivision (m) – "Nothing in this section is intended to diminish or abrogate any rights or remedies otherwise available to the petitioner or applicant."

As shall be argued, *post*, appellant does not suggest Proposition 47 allows automatic release of any defendant. Every defendant *must* undergo a formal determination of disqualifying priors, even *Kirk*-defendants, and thus would not be "automatically" released. Further, at worst, the "currently serving a sentence" language is ambiguous and is subject to rule of lenity. More reasonably, the phrase is a shorthand expression to differentiate those

individuals whose cases are final but whose sentences have not been completely served and may⁵ petition under the stricter requirements and consequences of section 1170.18, subdivisions (a) and (b), from those whose sentences have been fully served and may petition under section 1170.18, subdivision (f) for "designation" of their convictions.⁶

Thus the phrase "currently serving a sentence," when read in the context of the presumptions created by *Estrada*, *Kirk* and the arguments made *post*, should be read to mean those defendants who are currently serving a sentence after their cases became *final*. Moreover, the recall petition procedure under section 1170.18 should not be seen as an implied savings clause, nor should it be the exclusive remedy for *Kirk*-defendants — but instead simply *a* remedy available to *Kirk*-defendants.

Construing the Act to apply retroactively under *both* the *Estrada/Kirk* rule and the newly created recall petition process more readily achieves the

⁵If an inmate was close to completion of her/his sentence, s/he could choose to forgo a petition under section 1170.18, subdivision (a) and its restrictions and wait until completion to take advantage of the more lenient section 1170.18, subdivision (f) procedures and potential results.

⁶Section 1170.18, subdivision (k) provides that a "felony conviction that is recalled and resentenced under subdivision (b) or designated as a misdemeanor under subdivision (g) shall be considered a misdemeanor for all purposes, <u>except</u>..." That exception is that for "such resentencing" (emphasis added) – and nothing is said about "designation" – there are firearm prohibitions. Whether the firearm prohibitions apply to relief under subdivisions (f), (g), is a question left to other litigation.

Act's objectives. These objectives include ensuring that "prison spending is focused on violent and serious offenses" and to retain severe sentences "for people convicted of dangerous crimes like murder, rape, and child molestation." (Prop. 47, § 2.) Since *Kirk*-defendants' cases were not final when the Act was passed, having the appellate courts remand for resentencing would more quickly achieve the above goals and they would still be subject to screening in the trial court for any "super strikes."

Accordingly, Ms. DeHoyos is entitled under *Estrada* and *Kirk* to have her conviction reduced to a misdemeanor under amended Health and Safety Code section 11377 *after* a formal determination of no disqualifying factors.

ARGUMENT

I. **BECAUSE** THE **ACT** REDUCES PUNISHMENT, IN THE ABSENCE OF CONTRARY **ELECTORAL** ANDLEGISLATIVE INTENT, THE REDUCTION IS TO BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY TO DEFENDANTS WHOSE JUDGMENTS ARE NOT YET FINAL UNDER ESTRADA/KIRK RULE.

A. Introduction.

On November 4, 2014, voters enacted Proposition 47 which amended the statutes for various theft, drug, and forgery offenses so that, going forward, they could be prosecuted only as misdemeanors for most defendants. (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) text of Prop. 47, §§ 3(3), 5–13, pp. 70–73; see generally *People v. Davis* (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 1001, 1021; *People v. Lynall* (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 1102, 1109.) Simply stated, Proposition 47 has both prospective and retrospective parts. The prosecution of pending and future offenses covered by the initiative simply follows the text of the amended offense statutes (e.g., Health & Saf. Code, § 11377(a)). For past convictions, the Act created a provision, section 1170.18, under which a defendant can request the trial court to reduce a covered offense to a misdemeanor. When a trial court receives such a recall request, it "shall

⁷ Section 1170.18, subdivision (a) reads: "(a) A person currently serving a sentence who would have been guilty of a misdemeanor under

determine whether the petitioner satisfies the [eligibility] criteria" for relief under the initiative. (§ 1170.18, subd. (b).) Subdivision (m) of section 1170.18 further provides, "Nothing in this section is intended to diminish or abrogate any rights or remedies otherwise available to the petitioner or applicant."

Four groups of people are thus affected by Proposition 47: (1) defendants who were not sentenced before November 5, 2014 (*Estrada*-defendants); (2) defendants who were sentenced before November 5, 2014, but whose cases were not yet final (*Kirk*-defendants, e.g., they appealed and the appeals were not final)⁸; (3) defendants who were sentenced, who had not appealed or whose appeals were over before November 5, 2014, and are currently serving their sentence (§ 1170.18, subd. (a) petitioners); and (4) people who had completely served their sentences and indeed may have been sentenced long ago (§1170.18, subd. (f) petitioners). For the first group, no one contests the Act applies retroactively to those who have not yet been

The contract of the contract o

[[]Proposition 47 had it] been effect at the time of the offense may petition for a recall of sentence before the trial court that entered the judgment of conviction in his or her case to request resentencing" There is a slightly different application procedure for defendants "who ha[ve] completed [their] sentence for a [covered] conviction[.]" (See § 1170.18, subd. (f).)

⁸This class if *Kirk*-defendants would also include those defendants whose judgments were not final, i.e., the availability of an appeal had not yet been exhausted because the 60 days in which to appeal had not expired. (See e.g., *People v. Kent* (1976) 10 Cal.3d 611, 614.)

sentenced. (See *Estrada*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d at p. 748.)° For the third group, no one questions those defendants who did not appeal or whose appeals have concluded and are currently still serving their sentences must seek relief via section 1170.18, subdivision (a). It is also uncontested the fourth group should apply for relief under the application process in section 1170.18, subdivisions (f) through (h).

It is the second group of defendants at issue here. The question becomes how to apply Proposition 47 to Group 2, those individuals, like appellant, whose judgments were not yet final because they were on appeal (*Kirk*-defendants). Because nothing in the Act, or the electorate intent, indicates with sufficient clarity the presumption of retroactivity is meant to apply *only* to those defendants in Group 1, *Estrada*-defendants, and not to those in Group 2, *Kirk*-defendants, the Act should *also* apply retroactively to appellant.

The recall provisions of section 1170.18 provide a less complete remedy than *Estrada* due to the discretionary dangerousness finding provision

⁹See PROPOSITION 47: "The Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act" by J. Richard Couzens and Tricia A. Bigelow (January 2015), (§ II, C.) Indeed, counsel has found no case where a court refused to apply *Estrada* to defendants whose crimes had been committed before the Act, but had not yet been sentenced by November 5, 2015.

¹⁰As stated *ante*, if the "currently serving" defendant is on the verge of competing his/her sentence, s/he may opt to choose to complete the sentence and segue into the fourth category.

and firearm prohibition (see § 1170.18, subd. (k)), whereas *Estrada* mandates the lower sentence. While a section 1170.18 petition *may* be available to defendants who had already been sentenced when the proposition passed, the recall petition remedy is not equivalent to *Estrada* relief, and a *Kirk*-defendant should be not required to utilize the less effective remedy.

B. Standard Of Review And Applicable Principles Of Statutory Interpretation.

This case concerns the statutory interpretation of section 1170.18 and the interpretation of the legislative and electorate intent surrounding the Act as regards to the definition of "currently serving a sentence" in section 1170.18. This issue is a question of statutory construction. Issues of statutory construction are legal questions that are reviewed de novo. (*People v. Prunty* (2015) 62 Cal.4th 59, 71.) Ballot initiatives and statutes are governed by the rules of statutory construction. (*People v. Canty* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1266, 1276.)

The fundamental task in interpreting a statute is to determine the intent of the enacting body. In determining intent, the court looks to the ordinary meaning of the words themselves. (*Ibid.*) The intent of the law prevails over the letter of the law, and the words will be so read to conform to the spirit of the act, where possible. (*Ibid.*) "In addition, the Legislature is deemed to be aware of existing laws and judicial decisions in effect at the time legislation

is enacted and to have enacted and amended statutes 'in the light of such decisions as having a direct bearing upon them.' [Citations.]" (*People v. Overstreet* (1986) 42 Cal. 3d 891, 897; *People v. Hernandez* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 835, 867.)

If the law uses an undefined term, whose boundaries are not self-evident, the statute is inherently susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation and ambiguous. (*Canty, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at p. 1177.) Appellant acknowledges the phrase "currently serving a sentence" is not defined in the Act. However, when the language is susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, the construction should consider the history of the act, including "the measure as presented to the voters with any uncodified findings and statements of intent" included in the preamble. (*Canty, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at p. 1280.) Interpretations of ballot measures should be harmonized with their context. "The meaning of a statute may not be determined from a single word or sentence; the words must be construed in context, and provisions relating to the same subject matter must be harmonized to the extent possible." (*Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.)

As stated previously, penal statutes must also be interpreted under the rule of lenity – i.e., when language susceptible of two constructions is used in a penal law, it should be construed as favorably to the defendant "as its

language and the circumstance of its application reasonably permit." (*People v. Overstreet, supra*, at p. 896.) Stated another way, if a statute defining a crime or punishment is susceptible of two reasonable interpretations, the courts will ordinarily adopt the interpretation most favorable to the defendant. (*People v. Arias* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 169, 177.)

C. Proposition 47 Was Enacted To Reduce Punishment.

Proposition 47 reduced the punishment for various offenses. The primary purposes behind Proposition 47 can be found in the words of the initiative itself. Section 2 of the Act declares it is the intent of the people to focus "prison spending" on violent and serious offenses, and to "maximize alternatives" for non-serious, nonviolent crime, while directing savings into prevention and support programs. Section 3 declares it is the intent of the people to "[r]equire misdemeanors instead of felonies" for non-serious, nonviolent crime unless the defendant has prior convictions for specified violent or serious crimes.

As relevant here, Proposition 47 amended Health and Safety Code section 11377. Prior to that amendment, possession of controlled substances in violation of this section was a wobbler, i.e., an offense that is punishable either by imprisonment in the state prison or by incarceration in the county jail. As amended by Proposition 47, Health and Safety Code section 11377 now

provides that a violation of this section is a misdemeanor, unless the defendant has suffered a so-called "super strike" (§ 667, subd. (e)(2)(C)(iv)). 11

D. The Estrada/Kirk Rule Governs Retroactive Operation of the Act And Also Benefits Defendants Whose Judgments Are Not Yet Final When The Mitigating Change In Punishment Took Effect.

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