In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S228230

v.

VERONICA L. DE HOYOS, ET AL,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D065961
San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCD252670 SUPREME COURT
The Honorable Peter C. Deddeh, Gale E. Kaneshiro, and
The Honorable Lisa C. Schall, Judges Presiding

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FEB 1 9 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

KAMALA D. HARRIS

Attorney General of California

GERALD A. ENGLER

Chief Assistant Attorney General

JULIE L. GARLAND

Senior Assistant Attorney General

STEVE OETTING

Deputy Solicitor General

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

ARGUMENT

Under the Plain Language of Proposition 47, Individuals Currently Serving a Sentence for Eligible Offenses Must File a Petition for Recall of Sentence so the Trial Court Can Determine If They Are Eligible for Relief and If They Pose an Unreasonable Risk of Danger to the Public

Appellant contends that Proposition 47 must be interpreted in light of this Court's decisions in *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740 (*Estrada*) and *In re Kirk* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 761 (*Kirk*), which held that statutes reducing punishment may be presumed to apply retroactively to non-final judgments, unless there is evidence of contrary legislative intent. (ABOM 17–22.) Appellant's argument ignores that the plain language of Proposition 47 indicates such contrary intent by defining two categories of individuals who may be eligible for retroactive relief: those "currently serving a sentence" and those who have completed a sentence for offenses that would have been misdemeanors under Proposition 47. The Act then provides a

procedure by which those two categories of individuals may seek resentencing relief. The Act does not further classify an individual based on whether his or her judgment of conviction is final. Thus, the plain and unambiguous language of the Act indicates that the only relevant classification is whether a person is currently serving a sentence for an offense that would have been a misdemeanor and that all individuals within that category may seek relief by filing a petition in the trial court.

Since Proposition 47 provides this petitioning procedure for those who are currently serving a sentence, Estrada and Kirk do not apply. Those cases do not overrule the statutory presumption that new statutes operate prospectively. Instead, this Court has only presumed that a statute reducing punishment applies retroactively when the statute is silent as to how the change should be applied. However, Proposition 47 did not merely reduce the punishment for enumerated offenses; it also provided a comprehensive statutory scheme defining its applicability. For this reason, a "saving clause" analysis does not apply, and even if it did apply, section 1170.18's petitioning procedure is the functional equivalent of a saving clause. Moreover, this interpretation of Proposition 47 is consistent with the voters' explicit public safety goals. Although the Act reduced punishment for certain offenses, the ballot materials assured the voters that no prisoners would be automatically released. To ensure public safety, the Act required that all individuals currently serving a sentence be evaluated for dangerousness before permitting them to be resentenced.

This petitioning procedure provides appellant a remedy, and she may be eligible for relief. However, under the plain language of Proposition 47, this procedure is the only way she may receive misdemeanor resentencing, and she must avail herself of that procedure. Nothing in the Act authorizes automatic resentencing on appeal. Moreover, since the language of the Act is unambiguous, the rule of lenity does not apply.

A. The Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act

On November 4, 2014, the voters approved Proposition 47, the "Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act," and it became effective the next day. (Cal. Const., art. II, § 10 (a) ["An initiative statute or referendum approved by a majority of votes thereon takes effect the day after the election unless the measure provides otherwise"]; *People v. Diaz* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 1323, 1328 (*Diaz*).) The declared purposes of Proposition 47 included the following: "ensur[ing] that people convicted of murder, rape, and child molestation will not benefit;" "reduc[ing] felonies for [certain] nonserious, nonviolent crimes like petty theft and drug possession" to misdemeanors; "authoriz[ing] consideration of resentencing for anyone who is currently serving a sentence" for the listed offenses; and "requir[ing] a thorough review of criminal history and risk assessment of any individuals before resentencing to ensure that they do not pose a risk to public safety." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) text of Prop. 47, § 3, p. 70; *Diaz*, *supra*, 238 Cal.App.4th at p. 1328.)

To achieve those purposes, Proposition 47 first reduced specified nonserious, nonviolent felonies to misdemeanors. (*Diaz, supra*, 238 Cal.App.4th at p. 1325.) Among these specified offenses was Health and Safety Code section 11377.

Second, Proposition 47 provided a process by which those already convicted of these specified offenses can petition to have those convictions reduced to misdemeanors. Specifically, "[a] person currently serving a sentence for a conviction, whether by trial or plea, of a felony or felonies who would have been guilty of a misdemeanor under the act that added this section . . . had this act been in effect at the time of the offense may petition for a recall of sentence before the trial court that entered the judgment of conviction in his or her case to request resentencing" (§ 1170.18, subd. (a).) This procedure further requires that the trial court determine

whether the prior conviction would be a misdemeanor. If so, "the petitioner's felony sentence shall be recalled and the petitioner resentenced to a misdemeanor . . . unless the court, in its discretion, determines that resentencing the petitioner would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety." (§ 1170.18, subd. (b).)

Finally, Proposition 47 provided a process by which those who have completed their sentence for a crime reduced by Proposition 47 can apply for relief. Pursuant to section 1170.18, subdivision (f), "[a] person who has completed his or her sentence for a conviction, whether by trial or plea, of a felony or felonies who would have been guilty of a misdemeanor under this act had this act been in effect at the time of the offense, may file an application before the trial court that entered the judgment of conviction in his or her case to have the felony conviction or convictions designated as misdemeanors." "If the application satisfies the criteria in subdivision (f), the court shall designate the felony offense or offenses as a misdemeanor." (§ 1170.18, subd. (g).) These procedures are not available to individuals who have a prior conviction for an offense specified by section 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv), or an offense requiring registration pursuant to section 290, subdivision (c). (§ 1170.18, subd. (i).)

Appellant's conviction under section 11377 constitutes a felony offense that may qualify her for resentencing under Proposition 47. At issue, however, is whether she must file a petition for resentencing in the trial court, as required by section 1170.18, subdivision (a), or whether she is entitled to automatic resentencing on appeal under the newly modified Health and Safety Code section 11377 without having to file a petition in the superior court.

B. General Principles of Statutory Construction

The interpretation of a ballot initiative is governed by the same rules that apply in construing a statute enacted by the Legislature. (*People v.*

Park (2013) 56 Cal.4th 782, 796.) First, the language of the statute is given its ordinary and plain meaning. (Robert L. v. Superior Court (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 901 (Robert L.).) Second, the statutory language is construed in the context of the statute as a whole and within the framework of the overall statutory scheme to effectuate the voters' intent. (Ibid.) In this regard, statutes addressing the same subject matter and enacted at the same time should be construed together. (People v. Honig (1996) 48 Cal. App. 4th 289, 327; Stickel v. Harris (1987) 196 Cal. App. 3d 575, 590.) Third, where the language is ambiguous, the court will look to "other indicia of the voters' intent, particularly the analyses and arguments contained in the official ballot pamphlet." (Robert L., supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 900; People v. Floyd (2003) 31 Cal.4th 179, 187–188 (Floyd) [The ballot pamphlet information is a valuable aid in construing the intent of voters].) Any ambiguities in an initiative statute are "not interpreted in the defendant's favor if such an interpretation would provide an absurd result, or a result inconsistent with apparent [electorate] intent." (People v. Cruz (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 782, internal citation and quotation omitted.) Ultimately, the court's duty is to interpret and apply the language of the initiative "so as to effectuate the electorate's intent." (Robert L., supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 900.)

C. "Currently Serving a Sentence" Is Not Ambiguous and Does Not Indicate That Finality of Judgment Is Relevant

Appellant encourages this Court to find ambiguities in the plain language of Proposition 47 where none exist. (ABOM 11–14.) Section 1170.18, subdivision (a), states that "[a] person currently serving a sentence for a conviction . . . of a felony or felonies who would have been guilty of a misdemeanor under the act that added this section ('this act') had this act been in effect at the time of the offense may petition for a recall of sentence before the trial court that entered the judgment of conviction." The

ordinary and plain meaning of these words, and in particular the phrase "a person currently serving a sentence for a conviction" is that section 1170.18, subdivision (a), extends relief to a defined category of individuals—those serving a sentence for a Proposition 47-qualifying offense when the initiative became effective. Further, as discussed, section 1170.18, subdivision (f), extends relief to another defined category of individuals—those who have completed their sentence for a Proposition 47qualifying offense. Both categories are defined by whether the individual is serving a sentence. (People v. Shabazz (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 303, 307-315 (Shabazz) ["Section 1170.18 identifies two ways a defendant sentenced or placed on probation prior to Proposition 47's effective date can have his or her sentence for an enumerated felony reduced to a misdemeanor"].) Section 1170.18 does not further subdivide these two categories, and it makes no reference to whether a defendant's judgment of conviction is final. (Id. at p. 313 [stating that Proposition 47 "expressly, specifically and clearly address[es] the application of the reduced punishment provisions to convicted felons who were sentenced or placed on probation prior to Proposition 47's effective date . . . without regard to the finality of the judgment"].) Thus, the plain language of this section does not support appellant's creation of additional categories of individuals ("Estradadefendants" and "Kirk-defendants") based on whether their judgments are final.² (See ABOM 12–13, 29.)

² Appellant's primary critique of the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case is that the court did not distinguish between these additional classifications that she proposes. (ABOM 28–32.) As discussed, however, the plain language of section 1170.18 makes a different classification—based on whether an individual is currently serving a sentence—and explicitly does not classify individuals based on finality of judgment. Therefore, the text does not support appellant's critiques of the Court of Appeal's opinion.

That Proposition 47 makes no distinction between final and non-final judgments of conviction, instead only drawing a distinction between those currently serving a sentence and those who are not, plainly indicates that finality of judgment is irrelevant to a defendant's status under Proposition 47. (*Shabazz*, *supra*, 237 Cal.App.4th at p. 313.) Section 1170.18 could have been drafted so that it only applied to defendants whose judgments were final before Proposition's 47's effective date.³ (See ABOM 27 [stating that the electorate could "have used language to the effect the petition process applies to all defendants 'regardless of their conviction status'"].) It was not. There is no ambiguity in the words used in the statute, and appellant's distinction between prisoners whose judgments are final and those whose are not simply attempts to create ambiguities where none exist. The plain language of the statute unambiguously indicates that finality of judgment status is irrelevant.

Appellant also attempts to create ambiguity by stating that "the only way to construe 'currently serving a sentence'... is to mean those defendants currently [serving] a sentence whose judgments are final." (ABOM 28.) To the contrary, however, Proposition 47 does not include that qualification. Indeed, appellant's interpretation violates the statutory cannon that "[w]here the words of the statute are clear, we may not add to or alter them to accomplish a purpose that does not appear on the face of

³ This is particularly true given that a similar retroactivity debate regarding section 1170.126 of Proposition 36, the Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012, was in full swing long before Proposition 47 was enacted. (See e.g., *People v. Yearwood*, (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 161 (*Yearwood*); *People v. Lester*, previously published at 220 Cal.App.4th 291, review granted January 15, 2014, S214648; *People v. Contreras*, previously published at 221 Cal.App.4th 558, review granted January 29, 2014, S215516; *People v. Lewis*, previously published at 216 Cal.App.4th 468, review granted August 14, 2013, S211494.)

the statute or from its legislative history.' " (In re Jennings (2004) 34 Cal.4th 254, 265.) By not including language about finality of judgment, it follows that "currently serving a sentence" refers to all persons who are currently serving a sentence, regardless of whether their judgments are final.

Appellant is currently serving a sentence for violation of Health and Safety Code section 11377. Because section 1170.18, subdivision (a), explicitly applies to all persons currently serving a sentence for an enumerated offense, the petitioning procedures therein apply to her. That section requires that she seek resentencing relief through a petition for recall of sentence in the superior court.

D. Estrada and Kirk Do Not Apply Because the Act Is a Comprehensive Scheme Rather Than a Simple Reduction of Punishment

Contrary to appellant's position (ABOM 17–22), this Court's prior decisions in *Estrada* and *Kirk* do not apply to Proposition 47. Those cases narrowly assume that a statute reducing punishment for a particular crime applies to all defendants whose judgments are not final, absent evidence to the contrary, but they preserve the statutory presumption under section 3 that statutes operate prospectively. In addition, this Court has consistently limited the applicability of *Estrada* and *Kirk* to cases in which statutory amendments simply reduce the punishment for a particular offense without further defining the intent or applicability of the change. Thus, since Proposition 47 provides a comprehensive statutory scheme defining its intent and applicability, *Estrada* and *Kirk* do not apply.

1. Estrada and Kirk do not overrule the statutory presumption that new statutes operate prospectively

Section 3 of the Penal Code provides that when a statute does not have an express retroactivity provision, it will be presumed that the

Legislature intended the statute to operate prospectively and not retroactively unless there is clear extrinsic evidence demonstrating otherwise. (*People v. Brown III* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 314, 319 (*Brown*); *Floyd*, *supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 184.)

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